NRC FORM 591M U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

(04-2022)

Materials Inspection Report

1. Licensee/Location Inspected: 2. NRC/Regional Office

Mirview Incorporated Region llI

982 Stonewood Lane U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission
Maitland, FL 32751 2443 Warrenville Road, Suite 210

Lisle, IL 60532-4352

Report Number(s) 2022-001

3. Docket Number(s) 4. License Number(s) 5. Date(s) of Inspection
030-38736 09-26775-01 11/22/22; exit 12/02/22
LICENSEE:

The inspection was an examination of the activities conducted under your license as they relate to radiation safety and to compliance with the
Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) rules and regulations and the conditions of your license. The inspection consisted of selective
examinations of procedures and representative records, interviews with personnel, and observations by the inspector. The inspection findings
are as follows:

1. Based on the inspection findings, no violations were identified.
2. Previous violation(s) closed.

|:| 3. During this inspection, certain of your activities, as described below and/or attached, were in violation of NRC requirements, and
were assessed at Severity Level 1V, in accordance with the NRC Enforcement Policy.

A. The violation(s), specifically described to you by the inspector as non-cited violations, are not being cited because they were self-
identified, non-repetitive, corrective action was or is being taken, and the remaining criteria in the NRC Enforcement Policy
were satisfied.
(Non-cited violation(s) was/were discussed involving the following requirement(s)

B. The following violation(s) is/are being cited in accordance with NRC Enforcement Policy. This form is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION,
which may be subject to posting in accordance with 10 CFR 19.11.
(Violations and Corrective Actions)

Statement of Corrective Actions

| hereby state that, within 30 days, the actions described by me to the Inspector will be taken to correct the violations identified. This statement of corrective
actions is made in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already taken, corrective steps which will be taken, date when full
compliance will be achieved). | understand that no further written response to NRC will be required, unless specifically requested.

TITLE PRINTED NAME SIGNATURE AND DATE
LICENSEE'S
REPRESENTATIVE
NRC INSPECTOR | Ryan Craffey Pt Gy Dot 2025122061865 0300
BRANCH CHIEF Rhex Edwards S0 Dighal igned by Rhex A Ecwards
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NRC FORM 592M U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION
(10-04-2022) _uunes

Materials Inspection Record

1. Licensee Name: 2, Docket Number(s): 3. License Number(s)

Mirview Incorporated 030-38736 09-26775-01

4. Report Number(s): 5. Date(s) of Inspection:

2022-001 November 22, 2022; exit December 2, 2022

6. Inspector(s): 7. Program Code(s): 8. Priority: 9. Inspection Guidance Used:
Ryan Craffey 02220 3 IP 87130

10. Licensee Contact Name(s): 11. Licensee E-mail Address: 12. Licensee Telephone Number(s):

Ray Carlson - RSO rayacarlson@att.net 734-455-4730

13. Inspection Type: |:| Initial 14. Locations Inspected: |:| Hybrid 15. Next Inspection Date (MM/DD/YYYY):

Routine Announced |:| Main Office |:| Field Office 11/22/2025 Normal |:| Extended
|:| Non-Routine |:| Unannounced Temporary Job Site |:| Remote |:| Reduced |:| No change

16. Location(s) Inspected List:

Other Location - 3839 Napier Road, Plymouth, Ml (RSO's office)

17. Scope and Observations:

Mirview Incorporated was a mobile nuclear medicine service provider authorized to perform diagnostic
administrations of radiopharmaceuticals at a client facility in Eaton Rapids, Michigan, and at temporary job sites in
NRC jurisdiction. The licensee last performed principal activities in mid-2020, when the contract with the Eaton
Rapids Medical Center expired. The licensee notified the NRC of no principal activities in a termination request dated
February 8, 2021, and additional correspondence. Shortly thereafter, the licensee's RSO indicated that prospective
new owners wished to maintain the license; the termination request was subsequently voided in May 2021.

At the time of the inspection, the licensee's RSO maintained its inventory of sealed sources in storage at his office in

Plymouth, Michigan (docket no. 030-31952), and a company in Ann Arbor maintained the licensee's imaging trailer in
storage. A request for change of control of ownership and license renewal had yet to be received but were expected

before the license expires on January 31, 2023.

The inspector visited the RSO's office in Plymouth. All sealed sources were present and accounted for, including a
Ba-133 vial source that the RSO confirmed, after a brief period of in-office review, had been transferred to an
authorized recipient (Premier Cardiovascular Consultants of Michigan, docket no. 030-39299).

The inspector reviewed sealed source inventories, leak test results and transfer records, and discussed the future of
the license and licensed activities with the RSO.

No violations of NRC requirements were identified as result of this inspection.

Signature and Date - Branch Chief

Digitally signed by Rhex A. Edwards
Date: 2022.12.23 09:44:15 -06'00
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